Panel 2, Intelligence and the Arms Race

George Edwards: Ladies and gentlemen. If you might begin
taking your seats. If you could move in and take your
seats, that would be helpful. I’'d appreciate it. If I
could have your attention. We are off to a fine start,
and I think this conference is unprecedented and there
is another unprecedented aspect of this, this is.the
first time, in the experience of this building, that
we’'ve had a line for the men’s room and not the ladies’

room. So there may be a few people coming in late.

As in other lines of work, academics have some fancy
titles. I’m fortunate to have some fancy titles, and
we get to do the high-powered tasks. So I am about to
do one. There is a 4-door brown Plymouth, Texas
license plate D68ZCX, whose lights are on. So you may
want to turn them off if that’s your car. Well any
rate, we are off to a great start, and to continue our
examination of US intelligence at the end of the Cold
War, our second panel will focus on the arms race.
Chairing this panel is a man who has extensive
experience in the field, including serving as Assistant

to the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff from 1989
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to 1991, that critical period. 1I‘m especially pleased
to announce that since September, he’s become
Chancellor of the Texas A&M University system. Please

welcome our panel chair, Howard Graves.

Thank you George. And if I may for just a couple of
minutes give you welcome from the Texas A&M University
system, and to express our gratitude for all of your
words of sympathy for the tragedy which we suffered at
our flagship here yesterday. The flagship university
is the campus where we are currently located, of
course, and we have about 43,500 students here. 1In all
we are about 90,000. We have another nine campuses
spread throughout the state. From up in the panhandle
at Amarillo down to Corpus Christi, and from Laredo in
the West to Texarkana in the East. So those 90,000
students are all part of the A&M system. What is
unique about us is we also have eight state agencies
which reach another 3 % million Texans annually through
our extension services and our experiment stations. So
that in Houston, we have groups working on family
advocacy and gang membership responsible community
management. We have a workforce training group. The

engineering extension service. And then we have all of




our agriculture and engineering experiment stations
throughout the state as well. So we are very proud to
participate in the conference this morning and we
welcome all of you to Bryan/College Station and to

Texas A&M.

Now the first panel this morning discussed the broad
role of intelligence in predicting the collapse of the
Soviet Union. Our panel is going to discuss a critical
subset of those issues, that relating to the Arms race.
We’ve got a distinguished panel with us. Arnie Kanter
is the principal of the Scowcroft Group and Senior
Associate of the Form for International Policy; Steve
Hadley is a principal of the Scowcroft Group and a
partner in the Washington firm of Shea and Gardner; Ron
Lehman is the Director for Global Security Research at
Lawrence Livermore Labs; Jim Woolsey is with the
Washington firm of Shea and Gardner, and, as you know,
he was the DCI from 1993 to 1995. What’'s really
thrilling about this group is that sitting in front of
you, with the exception of Reggie Bartholomew, is the
wonderful group of which from 1989 to 1991 was known as
the “un-group.” We were the planners and the policy
developers which fed the principals and the deputies

for policy dealing with the collapse of the Soviet
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Union. Dealing with arms control, and that thrilling
time allowed us to develop friendships that can’t
really be matched. Doug MacEachin was the CIA rep to
our “un-group,” and we’'ve invited him to join the table

as well.

So we’ve asked our panelists this morning to consider
three questions. What was the nature of the US
intelligence regarding Soviet arms capabilities and
intentions? How effectively was this intelligence
employed by US arms negotiators? And in hindsight, how
accurate did the intelligence prove to be? Arnie is
coming to this from being the National Security Council
Staff Director for Arms Control and Policy, and then
the Undersecretary of State for Political Affairs
during our time. Steve Hadley was the Assistant
Secretary of Defense for Policy. Ron was the Director
of the Arms Control and Disarmament Agency, and Jim was
the ambassador in charge of the CFE reductions, and
Doug was the CIA rep to the “un-group”. So, Arnie,

would you lead off please.

As Howard said, the topic of the panel may be

intelligence of the arms race, but what you have here




is most of the “un-group,” with a ringer, or maybe a
Reg Bartholomew substitute. And so I, at least, would
like to address the issue more narrowly than the arms
race, and focus on the role of intelligence in arms
control, the arms control negotiations in the Bush
Administration. Let me just say that this here group,
as Howard said, was an informal, interagency group,
that was charged to take up some of the more
controversial, or sensitive, issues, which came up in
the START talks and other arms control negotiations.
And, given the subject of the conference, we did press
Doug MacEachin into service on this panel, even though
he has already just paid his dues. And I must say
that, in my remarks--and I am speaking, I guess, based
on my recollections as chairman of the “un-group”--in
my remarks about the Intelligence Community, I honestly
don’'t know how much of What I have to say really is
about the Intelligence Community and its contribution,
and how much is really about Doug MacEachin. When we
are done we’ll find out from Doug whether he is
pleased, or displeased, about my inability to make that
distinction. But let me just say at the outset that on
the one hand, as good as Doug is, and as superb as Doug
was, even I know he wasn’t doing it all alone. But on

the other hand, I sincerely believe that when the




definitive history of the role of intelligence in arms
control is written, Doug will emerge as one of the
unsung heroes of that tale. I mean that quite
sincerely. I’l1l let Jim speak for himself, but from
the perspective of the “un-group,” I think of Jim as,
shall we say, the beneficiary, he might say the
unfortunate beneficiary of some of what came out of the
“un-group,” and I know Jim, if someone asks him, will
be all to happy to tell him how grateful he was for all
the help he got from us, and I suspect you might not
even have to ask him before he tells you. But enough

about the “un-group.”

Let me talk about the contribution of intelligence.
I'd like to divide my remarks into four areas. The
first area in which intelligence made a contribution
was intelligence on present and future Soviet military
plans and doctrine. And I would also include Soviet
intentions in this category. And this intelligence
provided the essential context within which our arms
control strategy and negotiations, were supposed to
take place. And indeed, in dealing with‘the Soviet
threat, that is, or at least ought to have been, what
arms control was supposed to have been all about. And

this is no mystery. But I say supposed to because, at




least the “un-group,” so far as I can recall, we didn’'t
spend a lot of time talking about the intelligence
judgments on Soviet doctrine and intentions and plans.
We instead received and digested that intelligence, as
individuals, from our individual agencies and
positions. And we kind of carried around in our heads,
as we tackled the specific arms control issues we were
focusing on. And since, given how we were distributed
across the government, we almost surely relied on
difference parts of the Intelligence Community, or at
least accessed overlapping, but not identical,
intelligence products. None of us relied solely upon
the Intelligence Community. And frankly, we each
probably had a different discount rate we applied to
the intelligence we got on, what is inevitably, kind of
fuzzy, judgmental, intuitive assessments about things
like Soviet intentions. And so I think there’s at
least a fair chance, as we all got together to work on
specific issues, we were carrying around in our heads
slightly different assumptions, or presumptions, or
premises, that often went unarticulated as we did our
work. And we see whether we pursue that further in the

Q&A session.




How good was this kind of intelligence? I would say
that from our perspective it was as good as could
reasonably be expected. But that doesn’t stop me from
wishing that it had been better. And by that, I mean,
I wish that it had been more definitive, and expressed
with more confidence. ©Now had that been possible, and
I must say, I frankly doubt that it would have been
possible. But had it been possible, I think it would
have helped us to negotiate arms control agreements,
both more efficiently, and would have resulted in arms
control agreements with were less complicated and less
cumbersome than was, in retrospect, required to achieve

the objectives we sought.

The second category on intelligence was on Soviet
negotiating tactics and objectives. Namely, what was
the other guy up to. I don’t recall, I don’'t recall
after lunch, but I don’'t recall, again the “un-group”
spent a lot of time on Soviet tactics. But I would be
interested to see what my colleagues here remember
about that, and both Jim and Ron, as negotiators, I
think will have some real insights into the role of

intelligence on negotiations.




The third category 1s intelligence on Soviet weapons
systems. And given the discussion of the first panel,
it probably is worthwhile to remind us all that while
the Soviet Union may, by the late 1980’s, have been
self-evidently a third world economy that was in
decline, from the perspective of our jobs, it was still
a military superpower, and particularly a nuclear
superpower. And those, it is very easy to keep those
two ideas in mind simultaneously. Our problem was the
Soviet military superpower, notwithstanding what was

going on in the Soviet Union.

On strategic nuclear weapons I would rate the
intelligence as outstanding. At the same time, and
without in any way wanting to take away from what were
very impressive intelligence accomplishments, if this
wasn’'t the easy stuff for the Intelligence Community to
do, it was surely the meat and potatoes of the
Intelligence Community’s job in that period. And for
whatever reason, I don’t think we ever had a serious
question about Soviet, the capabilities of Soviet
strategic nuclear weapons, for which the Intelligence
Community didn’t have a pretty good, pretty confident
answer. And, indeed, I suspect that performance in

this area was so good that there were times at we began




to simply take it for granted. That we would ask a
question and we would get an answer, and of course we
got an answer, that’s what the Intelligence Community
does. We kind of got spoiled. I think the
intelligence about Soviet chemical weapons was not, and
frankly could not, have been as complete and
definitive. But I would still rank it as good enough.
Ron, who I think was much closer to these issues, may
have a different view, or in any event, a more complete
view. On conventional weapons, I'll let Jim speak to
this, because I think the intelligence, what the
Intelligence Community was asked to do in CFE

negotiations, was different, and I think harder.

The fourth category is the intelligence which told us
both what we had to monitor in the arms control
agreements we hoped to conclude, in order to be able to
assess Soviet compliance, and sort of the other side of
the coin, what provisions we had to get included in
those agreements so that compliance could be monitored.
Now for those of you who do not bear all the scars
those of us up here do on the distinction between arms
control monitoring and arms control verification, I
want to acknowledge to all my colleagues up here that I

still do remember that there was that distinction. But
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I'm not going to say any more about it. Instead, I
just want to talk about what, in this jargon, is the
monitoring side of the equation, which is, by which T

mean what we asked the Intelligence Community to do.

And let me ask you to cast your mind and memory back to
the Cold War, you remember the Cold War. Our public
posture at the time was “Trust, but verify.” But I
don’t think that it’s any secret that the real mantra
at the time was, “Don’'t trust them one bit, and insist
on the highest possible verification.” We also need to
remember that at that time both arms control, the whole
idea of arms control negotiations with the Soviets in
general, and the verification we were requiring in
those agreements, in particular, were highly charged
issues in terms of American domestic politics. Indeed
politics which often had ideological overtones, and
sometimes I thought ranged into theology. And finally,
we need to remember this was a time when these were the
Soviets. There were the Soviets for whom intrusive
inspections were still pretty much an anathema. So,
what we most wanted, and needed, on this score is what
they most hated and resisted. And that’s the minefield
that we, in the policy community, sent the Intelligence

Community in to roam around.

11




And I have to say that I think that on the whole the
Intelligence Community did very well in navigating this
mine field. I think they were very good at meeting two
challenges. On the one hand they were very good at
distinguishing between what they had to see and know,
in order to make confident monitoring judgments, and
what fell more into what I will call the “nice to have”
category. I think this ability to make these judgments
prove critical in the chemical weapons convention, when
the challenge of monitoring other parties’ compliance
by means of so-called challenge inspections, had to be
balanced against the need to limit, and, indeed,
gsometimes preclude foreign access to sensitive American
facilities. That balancing act we had to face very,

very squarely in the chemical weapons convention.

On the other hand the Intelligence Community, I
thought, was very creative in helping to devise the
provisions and procedures which gave them what they
needed, but still were negotiable with the Soviets.
Very creative in threading that needle. While the
Intelligence Community was very good, as I said, on
monitoring issues, the Intelligence Community could not

perform miracles. A whole bunch of miracles it
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couldn’t perform, but let me focus on one. One of the
miracles the Intelligence Community failed to perform
is that it couldn’t save us from ourselves. For
example, the Intelligence Community could never
conclusively rule out the possibility that the Soviets
could somehow reload silos after an initial nuclear
strike, or could covertly deploy and then employ what
we called non-deployed missiles. Likewise, it could
not, and did not promise perfection in monitoring.

That is, that every instance of cheating would be
caught. So that left it to us, the policymaker, to
decide what was good enough, and spawned memorable
phrases, such as, “adequately verifiable,” and
veffectively verifiable,” which fortunately since I was
in the NSC, I didn’'t have to testify abput. And we
policymakers, who on these matters were not always
profiles in courage, sometimes tried to pass the buck
back to the Intelligence Community by pressing them to
say, “What would it take to squeeze out that next
increment in monitoring confidence?” And given the
political climate, and I emphasize the political
climate, the frequent result, which I underscore, had
much to do with the Intelligence Community’s customers,
us, rather than with the Intelligence Community itself.

The frequent results were onerous, expensive, kind of

13




Rube Goldberg provisions and procedures whose
contribution, at least in retrospect, to enhancing our

national security is at least questionable.

I just got the red flag. I think that, we in the
policy community need to ask ourselves what we really
need from the Intelligence Community by way of
monitoring confidence, if, and as, there are future
arms control agreements. If we insist that the
agreement of hand achieved the highest possible
monitoring confidence, the Intelligence Community will
duly tell us what treaty provisions will be required to
do so. But except in very unusual circumstances, and
with very unusual intelligence officials, they will not
tell us whether it’'s worth the trouble, because that'’'s
our responsibility, not theirs. In my view, at the end
of the day, the test which the Intelligence Community
as asked to pass, what is the job of the Intelligence
Community. It’s job is to inform the judgments of
policymakers. So that the policymakers in turn can
make better and wiser decisions about matters which
bear on our natiénal security. In this context, in the
time in which we are speaking, how did the intelligence
community perform on this test? Well it needs to be

said that they had lousy students. They had students
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who didn‘t read their assignments, didn’t do the
assigned reading, and didn’t listen carefully to the
lectures. And given how lousy the students were, us, T
wish they would speak more clearly and succinctly, and
that they wrote in a style that I called, “dare to be
wrong.” Which is to say, write that way rather than in
ways that are so carefully hedged that, on the one
hand, they are never wrong, no matter what happens, but
they obscure the key points the policymakers need to
get. I have a feeling that the intelligence judgments
were much richer than we appreciated and made use of.
My bottom line is that even though I was a notoriously
hard grader when I was teaching, I would have to give
the Intelligence Community a grade somewhere in the

range of “A” on these matters. Thank you.

We are going to have two opportunities to hear from the
user group, which is what we represent. We represent
the staff that would feed the Deputies Committee and
the Principals Committee the information for their
meeting, and we’ll ask Steve Hadley now to present the

representation from the Pentagon, from Defense.
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I would say that on that issue I represented the Office
of the Secretary of Defense, worked for Secretary
Cheney and Paul Wolfowitz, and Howard Graves during
this period, and Barry McCaffery and John
Shalikashvili, after him represented the chairman. One
of the directions we got from our bosses was, if there
are disagreements, we want to hear them. We, Secretary
Cheney and General Powell, and we want to get them
resolved because we want to have the building as much
as possible speaking with one voice in this interagency
process. So Howard and I were very much joined at the

hip in this process.

On the nature of capabilities, the nature of the
intelligence on capabilities and intentions, a couple
of points. On Arnie’s point about what was happening
in the Soviet Union and then Russia on military
doctrine and operational capabilities, and what that
told us about Soviet versus Russian intentions, this
was a hard assignment in this period because so much
was changing, and indeed collapsing within the Soviet
Union. Secretary Cheney had a weekly briefing in which
the DoD intelligence constituents came in and briefed
the Secretary and a variety of others of us, on exactly

what was happening in the Soviet Union, and then
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Russia, in real time, and what it was doing to their
military capabilities and capacities. And that was, at
some points it was even almost a daily briefing. And
that was very helpful, because it provided the
background when you would go to the interagency
sessions to talk about what should we be doing in the
arms control and negotiating standpoint. So in terms

of DoD, that’s how we tried to accommodate it.

In terms of intelligence on capabilities, I think Arnie
has it about right. Quite frankly, where there were
things to be seen from satellites, we could do very
well -- missile silos and tank divisions. Where you
depended on other kinds of intelligence, such as the
chemical weapons area, what were Soviet inventories and
capabilities, that was less good. And in things like
the biological weapons, where the Soviets were pursuing
activities which had been talked about publicly, that
some people believe were in breach of the biological
weapons convention, it was hard indeed. And if you
didn’'t have a defector, it was near impossible. In
terms of intentions, I‘ve talked a little about Soviet
military intentions, and how we tried to get a handle
on that during this period. In terms of negotiating

intentions, what were the Russians, or the Soviet or
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the Russian negotiators, going to propose when you met
them next week, I think the intelligence was actually
pretty bad, and I’'d like Doug to comment on this. Doug
would routinely advise us, and have us read documents
that told us what we knew about what Soviet, and then
Russian, negotiators might be proposing at upcoming
meetings, and what splits might be going on within the
Soviet, or Russian, dialogue. And, quite frankly, I
never really saw those reports confirmed, and what I
saw when we got in the meeting and stérted to have
conversations and negotiation, and that may be simply I
wasn’'t as astute a reader as Doug, but that was an area
where quite frankly I didn’t find in the user group we

got a whole lot.

Let me talk a little bit about process, and how the
intelligence input worked in this “un-group”
organization that Arnie described. We certainly had
the NIE‘s to provide baseline military capabilities,
and one of the first things I found pleasant when I
read the bound set of documents that were released for
this conference, is, I remember them. That is to say,
we did read them. We did use them. They did provide a
baseline for our considerations. But we needed really

for the activities of the “un-group,” a more tailored
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intelligence support to get specific data or to answer
specific questions that we needed answers to, to
develop US negotiating positions. And that was really
provided by the Arms Control Intelligence Staff, or the
ACIS staff, which, as I understood it, was a community
staff that Doug chaired, and had representatives from a
variety of intelligence agencies, namely DIA, CIA, and
others. Doug, as chairman of the ACIS, participated in
the meetings of the “un-group” in a very constructive
way. He would try and synthesize the evidence, the
intelligence evidence orally during our meetings. He
would try faithfully to outline splits in the
community, which usually involved DIA, Howard and my
home agency; and CIA; and INR. And he would give his
best judgment on the intelligence based on the data.

He was also a focal point for going out to the
Community and getting the data and the analysis that we
needed for our operations, and then bringing it back in
written and oral form. I would emphasize that while we
may not be qualified to do it, and you may not feel we
are qualified to do it, in the end, I think all of the
policy people on the “un-group” were making their own
intelligence judgments. That is to say, while we were
interested in the bottom line judgments of the

Intelligence Community, we wanted to know the basis of
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those judgments. We wanted to know what the
Intelligence Community knew, with what confidence, and
in some sense more importantly, what they did not know,
which was just as important, I think, as what they did
know. And I think that one of the things that Doug
exemplified, was, he was humble about the intelligence
and was willing to say what we knew, with what
confidence, and what we didn’t know. And that was very

useful to us.

Secondly, that institutional structure was oral. It
was interactive, and that, I think, was very important
because it allowed you to test the data and test the
conclusions drawn from the data. It is not a
replacement for the written, but is a necessary
supplement to the written intelligence product if the
Community is going to be able, the Intelligence
Community is going to be able to serve the policy
community. And just to emphasize that, that was
certainly true in the “un-group” level, but it was also
true at the next level up. Secretary Cheney, during
the time when things were changing so rapidly in the
Soviet Union and Russia, every month had a Saturday
morning session that used to run for about four hours,

where he would have some representatives of the
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Intelligence Community, but also outside experts to
talk about what was going on in the Soviet Union, then
Russia, and what it meant. And that was a way for him
to test the data and form his own conclusions, which
were used obviously by him in his own participation in

this process.

This interactive process in some sense reached its
height in dealing with certain long, contentious US
intelligence issues that had been around for a long
time, and that needed to be resolved in the context of
some of the specific negotiations that we were
pursuing. A lot of these involved strategic nuclear
issues. They’ll be familiar to some of you. The range
of the Backfire Bomber. Whether the Russians had
tunnels in which they could hide their strategic
nuclear submarines. What was the extent of their rapid
reload capability? There were a variety of these.

They had been around a long time, and had inhibited
progress on the negotiations. And one of the things
that Doug did on several occasions was to bring in the
competing points of view within the Intelligence
Community, usually CIA on one side and our DIA people
on the other, and have them outline their views to the

“‘un-group.” It helped substantively, because it
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allowed us to reach some conclusions based on that
intelligence evidence to fashion negotiations and
negotiating positions. Conclusions on these kinds of
guestions. How serious was the issue from a national
security perspective? What were the risks involved in
the issue if it wasn’t addressed? What proposals could
we make to the Soviets, or to the Russiansg, on how the
issue might be addressed in a treaty? And what
priority should that issue have with respect to all the
other issues that were on the table in our negotiations
with the Soviets, and then the ﬁussians? So
substantively it was very helpful in putting these

issues aside from a policy standpoint.

It also, quite frankly, helped Howard and I
bureaucratically. Because the DIA, Intelligence
Community had an opportunity to present their views,
and had a hearing, and at the end of the day recognized
that the policy community would make the judgment about
what the consequences of that intelligence would be for
the positions taken in the negotiations. There are
obviously risks in this intimate involvement, in the
way that Doug MacEachin had in the policy process. You
have to be careful, and Doug always was, not to offer

policy judgments, or let your own policy preference
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begin to affect the spin that you give to the
intelligence. And I think also, for Doug to do what he
did, he had to be able to say to his wvarious
constituent communities in the CIA and elsewhere that
it was a fair and open process in which all could
participate and play. And that is also a way of
avoiding the Intelligence Community from becoming a
policy agency, but also getting into political trouble.
And the distinction that Arnie mentioned between an
intelligence judgment as to monitoring capability, how
likely we would be able to detect a Russian or Soviet
violation, and whether that posed a verification issue,
namely whether cheating in that respect would threaten
national security. That was an effort to make a line
between an intelligence judgment, namely monitoring,
but avoid getting the Intelligence Community into the
more political issue, as Arnie described, about
verification, which they should not be either
substantively or politically. And that was an issue
for the policy community. So, bottom line, I think
that one of the reasons that Arnie gives the grade he
does to the performance of the Intelligence Community
is because of the rather unique process that developed
in the context of support to the “un-group” in the arms

control area, and I think, quite frankly, that Doug
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MacEachin deserves a lot of credit for that. Thank

you.

And Ron Lehman, from the point of view of the Arms

Control and Disarmament Agency. Ron.

The most pleasant thing about this conference is the
opportunity to get together again with so many good,
close friends, not only at this table but in the
audience. It feminds us, though, that its not just
friendship that permits us to deal with these issues,
but it’s also how you organize. And Arnie has given
you a bit of a look at the “un-group.” The “un-group”
had a predecessor which, while I was on the NSC staff,
I helped invent along with one of the other unsung
heroes of this process, the late Bob Linhart. We were
having problems because in the early Reagan
administration, the decision had been made that we
would have Cabinet government. Nearly every President
says he’s going to have Cabinet government. The
problem is that so many of these issues are interagency
issues, with overlapping interests, that it is

difficult sometimes to pull together a process where
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you can get a fair adjudication and an optimization of
the decisionmaking. And we were given the task of
putting together a group. I wish we had called it the
“un-group,” but when Bob gave me the first draft, it
was called the Senior Arms Control Policy Group. I
looked at it and I said, “They are going to call this
the SAC PIG. You’d better change it.” Bob said he
would change it, but somehow when we sent it across to
the West Wing the word processor didn’t make all the
changes, and it took two national security advisors
later to get that “PIG” out of there. But the SAC PIG
had another problem other than its name, and that was,
the concept under then Judge Clark was to bring
everybody before the Judge so they could get their
arguments out there. But once you said that’s the
vehicle for getting the argumentation out, you created
an incentive for everybody to come. As a result, we
had a very large number of very senior people who
didn’'t have a lot of knowledge about the issues, but
insisted that they had to be at the meeting. It

created a real difficulty.
So what we ended up doing was creating another group,

which I also wish we had called the “un-group,” but we

didn’t. Bob Linhart referred to them as his Mafias.
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And we’d have this group of junior experts, who
actually understood the issues, had not yet reached
their levels of incompetence, and they had at least
enough professional background to understand what was
at stake for their own departments and agencies. We
would kind of pre-digest things in these Mafia
meetings, but the problem was, they really could not
speak for their bosses completely. What I commend the
“un-group” for doing is taking two somewhat defective
mechanismg attempting to solve the same problem, and
turning it into a highly effective mechanism. The
Intelligence Community’s role in this, in may ways, was
to provide the currency, the data, that we would
sometimes talk about. Although I think that I would
emphasize the same points that Arnie and Steve have
made about, I mean, sometimes the intelligence issue
wasn’'t the key issue. But I want to come back to that.
But one point that I want to make it that, every now
and then, because it always had its special interest,
but because the Intelligence Community allegedly, I use
that word advisedly, had no policy interests, there was
a sense in which it was a sanity check. It was a
something of a neutral broker who could keep us honest
and pull us back into reality if, in our resolution of

our various disputes, we got too far out.
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The real history of the role of intelligence in arms
control, as you say here, the arms race, has not been
told. It won’'t be told here today. It ought to be
told in great detail, and in great clarity. I think it
actually is a fascinating story. 1I’'d like to just
highlight, as I try to address the questions we were
given, and I’'ll take them in somewhat disjointed order,
or at least I’1ll answer them in order, but pieces will
move around. What I would like to highlight is that
the Intelligence Community very clearly helped us
understand, not just treaty-limited equipment, or
negotiating strategies, but the broader context in
which we were negotiating these issues. And that that
was in some ways the most important contribution. Now
it is true that Jim and I often had to focus on fairly
detailed questions, and when we were dealing with
compliance questions, they were often less judgments
about the military balance than they were judgments
about a widget; But overall I think the bigger issue
was the broader context. And I’'d like to come back to

that.

What was the nature of US intelligence regarding Soviet

arms capabilities and intentions? That was the
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question we were given. I’'d like to use an example of
INF (Intermediate Range Nuclear Forces) for a number of
reasons. One is, that’s one that I think my colleagues
are not going to talk about, reminds us that the
process began earlier, as I think Doug has been
highlighting, and that it had to continue through. And
the point that I want to make about INF is this. When
the SS-20 first was deployed, there was a lot of to-ing
and fro-ing in the Intelligence Community about how
many there were going to be, what its capabilities
were, and how it fit into Soviet military doctrine.

But ultimately, for reasons I won’t detail, that never
became the most important question. The most important
question was in essence, what did it mean about Soviet
intentions, and how, in particular, would our Allies
react to that? It very quickly became the issue of
decoupling. The issue of decoupling was very distant
from the question of target coverage and issues like

that. It was a highly political question.

Now there were some early issues in INF that the

Intelligence Community got involved in. Some of them
seem, in retrospect, to have been silly. For example,
you would have been amazed how many high-level public

opinion leaders, and political leaders, in Europe and
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the United States, kept saying, “We’'re not sure this
exists. You can’t show us a picture of this thing.”
And the knowing people thought that the reason was
sources and methods. The real reason as I remember it
was, we never had a picture. Not of the missile
itself, because it was always canisterized. There was
another issue that developed very early on, and that
was, Soviet intentions in the negotiations. How
flexible could they be? As you know, since there were
divisions politically and domestically within the NATO
countries, including within the United States, over the
so-called dual track decision, a lot of people were
interested in whether or not we could get a negotiated
settlement early, that would meet whatever it was the
Soviets need, and either preclude our need to
deployment, to deploy, which many of the Allies wanted,
or, would pefmit us to do some limited deployment that
we might find acceptable. One of the people that
Charles Gati mentioned, who talked about bumps in the
road, wrote a book at the time that suggested that
because of the Soviet walk-out, that, in fact, we had
missed a significant opportunity to get an INF
agreement. But our assessment at the time was, there
wasn’t much chance to get an acceptable negotiated INF

agreement.

29




RL:

(Continuing) . . . . I'd be interested if in hearing
any more from people who were there at the time, as to
whether there were widely diverse views within the
Intelligence Community, but among us the expectation
was that it would not happen. I saw in this book that
said we missed an opportunity, there was a quotation of
a conversation I had with Bessmyrtrykk, in Moscow, in
1983, which suggested that the Soviets might be
prepared to accept a few cruise missiles in Great
Britain. I never saw the reporting cable, but this did
appear in this book as an evidence that we had missed
the chance for an agreement. But as Bessmyrtrykk
confirmed with me a few months ago, in public, in fact
their assessment was that we would deploy. They would
have no choice but to challenge us geopolitically to
see how much pressure the alliance could take. But at
the end, after we had deployed, who knew then perhaps
if you use Cruise missiles in Great Britain, the
context was exactly the opposite. How you interpreted
the Soviet attitude and intention towards a negotiation
was vital to the outcome of the negotiation. I raised
this about INF, because in some ways I think we

underestimate the role of INF in bringing about the end
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of the Cold War. Because early on, it was obviously
designed, the whole process was designed, to put
pressure on the West. But in fact, like a rubber band
in may way, it snapped back and it became one of the
vehicles that Gorbachev could use for trying to revisit
the question of the burden of the defense budget. 1In
INF there were some of those specific intelligence
questions though, that you all are interested in. Many
people are not aware that six months after we had
signed the INF treaty, we were back in Geneva
renegotiating provisions that had to do with what came
out of the SS-20 production facility at Votkinsk. It
turned out that what we had always thought came out of
Votkinsk actually had never come out of Votkinsk, it
was always something less than the full-up SS-20. And
it got caught up in the question of a system, which our
negotiator then, Mike Glitman, referred to as Fat-Boy,
which was some other system they were developing that
they didn’t want us to inspect. And we had to

negotiate provisions in the blind.

We weren’t the only ones in the blind. At the coffee
pot, one of our people overheard them having a
discussion on their side in which they revealed to each

other that their technical experts didn’t know how long
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Fat-Boy was themselves. So Viktor Karpov, their
negotiator, took a very strong position that they
simply had to agree to the database that was in the
protocol, or addendum, to the treaty, and they could
agree to no other numbers. It didn’t matter what
reason or rationale you brought to the problem. I want
to commend the Intelligence Community because it was
Jay Castillo who leaned over and whispered and said,
“The database doesn’t have the inner stage.” So what
did we do? We said, “OK, we’ll agree to the database
if you’ll agree that we add up the numbers.” We
accepted their position, insisted that they add up the
numbers, but the problem was they didn’t know now if
they could accept their position because they didn’'t
know if that number was big enough. Did we effectively
use the Intelligence Community on little things? Yes.
Did we use it effectively on big things? Yes. Did we.

sometimes get it wrong? Yes, sometimes we did.

Sometimes we helped the Intelligence Community. Early
on in the INF negotiations we were trying to discover
what would you define as a warhead. And there was this
incredible conversation in which one of the Soviet
technical people was talking as if the SS-20 warheads

didn’t have an air shield over them. And we thought it
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was a translation problem, or it was a concept problem.
It sounded like he was saying that the things just lay
against each other. Well, as I said, we never had a
photograph of one. I never saw one myself until I saw
it in the Smithsonian. But guess what? When we
finalized the INF treaty, it discovered they don’t do
all things the same way we do them. Some things they
do differently. The negotiators were leading the
Intelligence Community in this regard in terms of
gathering information. And I think throughout this
history you’ll discover that there was a very effective
mutual supporting relationship. Sometimes we helped

them just as much as they helped us gather information.

In hindsight, how accurate did the intelligence prove
to be? I’d like to pick up the Moynihan issue. I
don’'t want to push the question of the economy too
much. I mean, my impression is that it wvaried a little
bit over time, but that by and large, whether it was
the Intelligence Community or the broader Sovietology
community, I think in general we tended to, in GNP
terms, underestimate the percentage of GNP, by some
definition, that went into the military. But we

probably overestimated the size of the economy. So we
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were, in essence, the concern was a larger piece of a

smaller pie.

But I want to address another aspect of this, which is,
how do you do the conversion? And you go look at
Soviet equipment, and often, functionally, it was
really outstanding. The human engineering might be
rough. You know it had a lot of crude welds that cut
your hands, but on the other hand, it would have
incredible expensive ball bearings in a piece of
equipment we didn’t even think was important. These
were issues to be addressed. But at the end of the
Cold War, Moynihan calls us up, the negotiators, and
we're testifying on START, and Moynihan says, “You were
let down by the Intelligence Community. If they had
told you that the Soviet Union was going to collapse
tomorrow, that would have changed everything.” I
argued, (A)We weren’'t let down. I mean you’ve already
heard some of the discussion, but in fact we had had
discussions with Moynihan, in Geneva, on the question
of the future of the Soviet Union. When I was Steve'’s
predecessor in the US-Turkish High Level Defense Group,
our OSD people had been talking to the Turks about

Central Asia and the problems that were developing
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there, and in the Caucasus. It wasn’'t as if we were

totally blind to this.

But let’'s suppose there were a crystal ball, and that
crystal ball could predict the future. Would I have
negotiated START differently? I saw Akhromeyev at the
START I signing ceremony. He and I sat in the back.
He was very, very depressed. Sad. He said we’d had
many good conversations that were very positive at
times. He was very negative on the future of the
Soviet Union. But what if he had leaned over to me and
said, “You know Ron, in three weeks, we are going to
have a coup.” Would I have jumped up, run up in front
of the cameras and said, "“Stop the START I signing
treaty. I just learned that the Soviet Union’s going
to have a big hiccup in three weeks?” No, because, to
some degree, we had already had these backlashes with
the hawks, and we were trying to design the treaty to

deal with that kind of thing.

In CFE, let me give you an example and I’‘1ll then turn
it over to Jim. At one point, very late in the
negotiations, General Moiseyev comes in to an “un-
group” meeting. I think many, I think we were maybe

all there. He pounds on the table, he looks down the
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side of the Soviet delegation and says, “What fool
believes that Kiev is on the flank?” And began to
reopen the numbers and definitions of the flanks, I
mean of the zones. Now suppose that the CIA had had a
crystal ball department that could actually perfectly
predict the future, and they predicted that Jim was
going to be their boss shortly, so they had gone to him
and said, “Jim, guess what. To help you in this
negotiation, not only is Kiev going to be on the flank,
it’s not even going to be in the Soviet Union.” So use
that on Moiseyev. OK. But now, let’s suppose the KGB
had the same crystal ball capability. Could you
imagine Moiseyev saying, “All right, Woolsey, but let
me tell you this. I not only want to reopen the
numbers now, but in a few years, I'm going to have to
reopen them again because I’'ve got to worry about
former republics of the Soviet Union that I'm going to
think are threats to me. And by the way, after that,
I'm going to have to reopen the numbers again, because
I may have to use heavy equipment against my own

people.”

My point is, intelligence in the policy process weren’t

trying to predict the future, we were trying so shape

it. And if we had been in the future, and had a time
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JW:

machine, we would have come back and tried to do many
of the same things we tried to do together, because we
would have wanted to change the future. Jim, over to

you.

I've asked Jim to share with us not only his insights
from his time with CFE, but also some insights he might

have had in reflecting back as DCI. Jim, please.

Thanks Howard. In looking out over this audience, it
is a great honor to be here. This may be the greatest
collection of intelligence about intelligence in modern
history. If I could, perhaps however, borrow a
formulation from former President Kennedy, except on
those occasions when R.V. Jones dined alone. I first
was introduced to the need for intelligence on CFE when
three days after taking over the negotiations, the
evening of November 9, 1989, I was sitting in my
apartment in Vienna watching the Berlin Wall go down.
And demonstrating the same keen analytical ability that
I showed a few years later in 1992, when I tried to
recruit the then Chief of Séaff of the Senate

Intelligence Committee, George Tenet, to be General
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Council of the Smithsonian, and he told me after
letting me pay for a very expensive lunch, that he had
never in fact been to law school, I observed the
Berlin Wall going down, and then wrote my wife back in
Washington a letter, which, unfortunately, she still
has. It went something like this: Something
interesting happening in Berlin on CNN this evening.
Well, moving along to Christmas vacation. Looking
forward to you and the boys coming over. I think we’ll
go skiing, and I would like for us all to go to Prague
because, although you’ve been, I never have, and they
haven’t, and I would like for them to see what a real
Stalinist state looks like . . . . When we were there a
few weeks later, on the eve of Christmas, of course,
the crowds on the bridges were singing American civil
rights songs in Czech and holding aloft banners saying,
Havel na Hrad - Havel to the Castle. So I don’'t stand
on any rock of precedence in my own right with respect
to the use of intelligence, or analytical capability,
about what was going to happen in Europe in late 1989

and 1990.

I will say this about the intelligence that we had over
the years. And here I am harkening back more to the

three years that I spent as Undersecretary of the Navy
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in the late 1970's, and the years as an advisor, or
delegate-at-large on the arms control negotiations
during the Reagan administration, a part-time position
in Europe. Which was that, on technical intelligence
in matters related to individual weapons systems,
Soviet war plans, matters of great national importance
of that sort, intelligence generally was not just good,
it was superb. Certainly there were phenomena such as
the bow wave and the window of vulnerability and such
that Doug described in which, on macro issues,
including from time to time GNP numbers and so forth,
things were off base. But on the things that really
affected our planning for naval forces and the like,
for example, the product of the Intelligence Community
was first-rate. There were things like, the so-called
greater than expected threats, so clearly labeled which
forecast in the late 1960’'s large numbers of ballistic
missile defense systems in the Soviet Union, and helped
to produce the move to MIRV American systems, a
development which I think we would have undertaken
anyway, without those forecasts. And there have been
minor flaps here and there since. For example, in 1996
there was some press about some material that came out
of the Ames damage assessment, suggesting that the

Soviets had been massively crafty in giving us a feed
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material, which had led us to spend vast amounts in the
late 1980’s and early 1990’'s on weapons systems that
were unneeded. It’s about 98 to 99% nonsense. Most of
this, all of this feed material, with one exception,
was over obsolete and irrelevant systems, and had no
real particular effect on decisionmaking in the

Pentagon.

The American Intelligence Community, and the CIA, in
particular I think, on this overall issue of material
that was relevant in the arms control negotiations, and
on the overall direction of the Soviet Union, did a far
better job than most any other institutions in American
life, and certainly better than almost all American
academics, with a few very notable exceptions. There
were some people who were remarkably prescient, Charlie
Wolf, Harry Rowan, Zbig (Zbigniew Brzezinski), Charles
Gati on some issues. The two most prominent
individuals, who, at least in general terms, were the
most prescient, were Daniel Patrick Moynihan, and
Ronald Reagan, because of some of the things they said
in the late 1970’'s and early 1980’'s that looked
remarkably accurate now. And I guess what I think
about that is that sometimes the Irish just hear voices

that the rest of us don’'t hear.
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Now with respect to the CFE negotiations themselves,
although most of the intelligence was quite good, there
were occasionally whoopsies. And in November of '88,
one month before Gorbachev’s remarkable December 7
speech, an assessment came out that said, “The Warsaw
Pact states will not accept the current NATO proposal
which in effect calls on the Pact to take gigantic cuts
in tanks and artillery for minor cuts on the NATO
side.” Well, of course, that’s what Gorbachev did,
essentially, a month later, when he proposed the
unilateral Soviet reductions. And those, but he
surprised everyone with that speech, not just the CIA.
And the reductions were rather well underway in late
1989, when the terms of reference for CFE had been
negotiated. And the negotiations had begun. In the
CFE negotiations, we had a really rather different
problem with respect to intelligence and conduct of the
negotiations as a whole, than almost any other type of
negotiation. We were in a race with the clock.
Somewhat like a 440, where you have to start out at a
sprint and keep going much longer than you really think
a sprint should last. Because we were looking at a
time table in which, by the Fall of 1990, a mere year

later, people were already starting to talk about a
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CSCE summit, in Paris, in which the terms for the
future of Europe would be set out. And it was, the
United States government felt, extremely important to
lock in the reductions which Gorbachev had announced,
and which NATO on the whole was willing to recognize,
and the overall pattern leading to equal levels for the
two blocs, at that time in Europe, as distinct from
equal reductions, which had been the bane of everyone’s
existence on the Western side for the many, many years
of the MBFR talks. So our problem was getting a huge

job done in about a year'’s time.

Several things made this possible. First of all, there
was a good deal of discipline and commitment in the
Bush administration. One of the most important things
was that President Bush and Brent Scowcroft and
Secretary Baker refused until the very last minute,
thank God, to commit to even attending the CSCE summit
in Paris, unless there was a CFE Treaty. And it
gradually became clear by the Summer of 1990 that they
were serious, and, therefore, many of our adversaries
and, most difficulty, one or two of our Allies finally
agreed that we would have a treaty and not some sort of
statement of principles. It was made much easier, of

course, by the fact that beginning with my surprise in
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Prague, the Warsaw Pact nations’ governments were
collapsing in late ‘89 and early 1990, at a rate of
about one a week until by early 1990, except for East
Germany, the Soviet Union essentially had a no allies.
This produced some delicious situations for an American
negotiator. I recall once that the chief of the
Foreign Relations Committee of the Sejm, in Warsaw,
Onyszkiewicz, Solidarity activist, later Defense
Minister, came to call on his Ambassador, a old-line,
hard-line, Polish intelligence officer, and the Polish
Ambassador invited thee to coffee in order to show that
he could at least get along with the Americans.
Onyszkiewicz and I grinned at each other over the
coffee in the Hofburg, and I said to him, “You know
I've had a Solidarity bumper sticker on my truck for
ten years.” And we looked together at the old-line,
hard-line, Polish intelligence officer Ambassador, who

sort of shrunk slightly beneath the table.

The Soviets needed, in Vienna, in 1990, something very
different than was the case in Cold War era
negotiations. They needed to feel that they were not
going to be dominated or embarrassed by this western
NATO and American dominance. So we went to great

lengths in order to try to make sure that was true. I
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had a large number of bilateral American-Soviet
functions for which the United States, of course, paid.
Jazz evenings, picnics, even sauna evenings for the two
parts of the two delegations in the home of one of my
CIA officers, who’s here today, who was heading up some
of the analytical work. Some of our most interesting
circumstances had to do with the fact that five anyway
of the Warsaw Pact powers, at that point, were under
new governments, almost panting to get into a posture
such that they might get into NATO someday. So that
when I returned from meetings in Washington or
Brussels, I would first brief the NATO caucus, the NATO
ambassadors on what I was going to do, and then without
rubbing the Soviets nose in it, quietly convene all but
the East Germans from the Warsaw Pact, and brief them
on what we were going to do. Because in many cases, by
early 1990, they were willing to take American
suggestions far more readily than were some of our

Allies.

It rapidly came to be clear that some of our Allies,
one in particular, our oldest ally (France), would
almost automatically object to anything that the United
States put forward in the NATO caucus. So I hit early

upon a tactic of thinking up, along with my very able
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staff, what approach we neéded on some section of the
treaty, then going and planting the idea with one or
more of our smaller Allies, having them propose the
idea in the NATO caucus, object to it myself, then
watch while our oldest ally’s ambassador would smile,
getting ready to write his cable back saying that the
Americans are opposed to this so we should consider it
seriously. Hear him say something positive and then

grumpily come along myself one or two meetings later.

One of my major requirements was to convince everyone
that the United States was extremely serious in getting
this treaty done and done quickly. And the nature of
this treaty was really that it was a verification
regime, the purpose of which was transparency, on which
we hung some limitations. The limitations on the
military forces were important. It was important that
they be rational, and that they be approximately equal,
but the details mattered far less than having a sound
verification regime. And here the Intelligence
Community came superbly into play. One of the most
important things I did to convince all of Vienna that I
was very serious, was persuade Lyn Hansen, who is here,
and who had negotiated the Stockholm confidence-

building measures, to come back and to head up the
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verification work. Everyone in Vienna who knew
anything about the history of these types of
negotiations knew that if Lyn Hansen was heading up
this, it must be something that the United States meant
to work. And the CIA officers, I think we called them
the Analytical Support Group, or something like that,
who were on my delegation, including such people as
John Lauder and Jim Simon, had a major role in
negotiating, particularly, the verification provisions
of the treaty. The overall sprint to the fall of 1990
more or less worked. And one of the things I am deeply
grateful for is that the gentlemen at this table, and
Reg Bartholomew, did not object to too much to my
inserting myself, somewhat unofficially, into their
group as a kind of interloper member. I did this by
means of keeping to myself until I got an instruction
that I didn’t like, which they would have either
drafted or given to the staff to draft. At which
point, I would come into the office very early in the
morning, that’s around midnight Washington time, and
call, often, each of them around midnight on secure
telephones which they had at their homes, complaining.
After a while, in order to get rid of me, they more or
less accepted me as an unofficial member of the group

that was writing my own instructions. And I was
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delighted to be accepted as a colleague. This was
somewhat easier because I had known these gentlemen,
except for Doug who was a new acquaintance, on the

average of about twenty years.

I think that it i1s important to realize also that the
one remaining negotiating adversary after the Warsaw
Pact collapsed, by the Summer of 1990, was not really
even the Soviet Union, it was principally the Soviet
military. Shevardnadze, and my counterpart, Ambassador
Gurinevsky, in the Soviet Foreign Ministry, were trying
to work Gorbachev’s problem, and the Soviet military
were the ones who were really dragging their feet.
Eventually, their final caper was to put in place a set
of data in the aftermath of the treaty signing, which
moved a number of divisions’ worth of equipment into
the Soviet Navy, and declared that by virtue of that
fact, since naval forces were excluded from the treaty,
that equipment didn’t count. It took another eight to
nine months, and Shevardnadze'’s resignation as Foreign
Minister, in part over this issue at ﬁhe end of 1990,
and a great deal of persistence personally by President
Bush as well as leaders of many of the Cabinet
departments involved, and a number of Arnie Kantor-

drafted letters sent by President Bush to President
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HG:

Gorbachev, to finally bring them afound. So this was
an odd treaty, in an odd relationship with the
Intelligence Community. The basic issues that the
Intelligence Community dealt with, they dealt with on
the delegation and in place as a result of detailed
back and forth conferences between Doug in Washington,
and John Lauder and Jim Simon and the others on the
delegation in Vienna. It was not the type of use of
intelligence that one normally would see in a job
relating to procurement or even in a somewhat slower
moving negotiation, and one with large strategic moves
such as was the case in INF, and SALT, and START. In
CFE, we had hundreds and hundreds of small to medium-
sized issues, and it would have been absolutely
impossible for it to have been brought about
successfully without the participation of the
Intelligence Community. I have run out of time to talk
about the period of being Director of Central
Intelligence. I’'ll turn to that in questions and

answers if anyone’s interested.

Thank you, Jim. Doug, you’ve had your time in the
first panel, do you want to make a couple of comments

though before we open up for questions?
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HG:

Just to thank my colleagues, and only send back the
message that if you had done everything exactly the
same, but with different people, it would not have
worked. And I don’'t, you know, the people that made up
that group had a heck of a lot more to do with the
outcome than I think a lot of people will ever realize.

So, it was the best four years of my life. Thank you.

Well, we’'ve got a lot to talk about. As you can see
from our level, basically looking for capabilities and
developments and intentions was more important in the
day to day effort, than looking for judgments and
predictions. There was a difference also between
military strategy and negotiating strategy for our
particular purpose. The fact that we were still
dealing with a military superpower, the filter that we
were looking through was very important. From our
standpoint it was also important for the military that
we were trying to balance the need for information
about the Soviet Union with our own desire to protect
our own security as well. A couple of points that have

been made I think are very important. Our role, and
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the role of intelligence both, was to inform the
judgment of policymakers, who were then going to make
the political judgments, and we will hear from them
tomorrow. We have a panel with Brent Scowcroft, with
Dick Cheney, and with Jim Baker, who will be able to
share those political judgments. Those political
judgments were filters that we ourselves had, but that
we also were coming to the meetings with from the
standpoint of our bosses. Steve made the point about
the interactive process. This particular
administration, from ‘89 to ‘91, I thought in all of my
experiences, struggled more than any I’'ve ever seen to
provide a fair and open process. A fair and open
process among professionals who trusted each other to
be professional. And so that interactive process that
Steve described was very active in the Pentagon. And
frequently, the civilian staff in the Pentagon was more
conservative about many of these issues than was the
military staff. But it also was very interactive among
ourselves as we came forth to try and find
recommendations for our bosses. What was also very
enjoyable was that we were invited as the planners to
join our bosses in the Principals group to wrestle it
out as well, and frequently participated in those

Principals meeting. They were wrestling with a
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DMc:

consensus that they could bring forth, again as friends
and as professionals to the President for
decisionmaking. And Brent Scowcroft did a wonderful
job being an honest broker in those meetings. Shaping
the future, understanding what Gorbachev was all about,
a very thrilling time to be active in this, but also as
Doug has said, a thrilling time to build relationships.
May we entertain your questions now. Please come

forward to the mikes. Yes.

I'm Nina Stewart; I now teach. My question really
deals with an observation that Doug MacEachin had
earlier in a previous session, about the bow wave
problem. And my question to you is, was the bow wave
issue also your operating assumption? In other words,
were there going to be the possibility of three hundred
plus strategic nuclear weapons and delivery systems in
production, was that, in your mind, indicative of
intentions, and, if it was, how did it effect your

negotiating strategies?

Well, I don’t remember that we were still pushing the

bow wave after Gorbachev’'s announced unilateral cuts.
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I think by 1988, and I take it, my own personal view, T
wanted to go into arms control because I thought that
the whole thing was coming apart, and I thought what we
were going to do was to try and negotiate a way that it
could come apart without perhaps causing a disaster.

So I think the bow wave, by then, was over. Gorbachev

had shot it.

(faint voice) . . . those who were negotiating around

the mid-1980’'s?

OK. You're going to have to ask.

I'm the old guy. I have not only all the different
hats, but all the age to go with, that goes with it.
We were mainly interested in outcomes rather than
inputs, in a sense. So if the intelligence estimates
overestimated in some area or another, we nevertheless
were negotiating towards what we thought were equal
outcomes. Sometimes we had to be very cautious about
that. But let me make a couple of points. In one of
my hats that I have today, I now spend a lot of time

going around republics of the former Soviet Union,

52




including Russia, to WMD facilities. I was, just a few
weeks ago, at Vektor. Vektor was one of the big BW
facilities. You know we didn’t get a really strong
compliance statement, I think, in the compliance report
on BW until about late '91. October 1991. The
Intelligence Community, as an intelligence judgment,
said, from a very long period of time, going back
before Sverdlovsk, but clearly at least from that
period in public, that their professional judgment was
that the Soviet Union had a large BW, offensive BW
program. OK. But it was hard to meet the sort of
verification compliance standards, to take it, in
essence, to a court. At Vektor, a few weeks ago, I sat
in a building that has probably more BL4 facilities in
one floor than the whole United States ever had. This
is a major city, and I got a briefing from them on the
history of this program, which began in 1974, after the
biological weapons convention went into effect. It is
a small town or city that was devoted to the biological
weapons program. wa there is some interesting news
there, but it is one of these half empty, half full. I
discovered that they had a lot of huge buildings that
were incomplete. That in ‘92 they finally stopped
building them. '92. That’s fairly late in the

process.
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The point I want to make is this. Whether we got the
GDP right, or the percentage of GDP right, and whether
they really were trying to rein back or not, in some
areas, the momentum was still there. And while they
have all the inefficiencies of a Socialist economy that
you could see around Moscow, they had several things
going for them. One was the ability of a command
economy to take talent and resources and say “go do
something”. If that got priority, it got done. It may
not have been overall optimized, but certain important
things got done. I think that this is more an apples

and oranges analysis than percentage of GDP.

My name is Gene Poteat, I'm a former scientific
intelligence officer in the CIA. We’ve heard much
today about a first-class Soviet military power at the
same time with a Third World economy. We are looking
at a new situation today that we still have an economy
in collapse, but I understand they are now building a
new generation of very advanced strategic missiles,
submarines, and aircraft. I’'d like to direct my

question to Jim Woolsey. First, and any others that
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would like to say. If that is the case, then how does

that fit in with our present arms control treaties.

Well they are spending, I think, a surprising amount of
resources given the incredibly decrepit nature of their
economy, on strategic forces. The Soviets, Soviets, I
still say that, the Russians have announced within the
last couple of years a new strategic doctrine. Somewhat
analogous to that of the Eisenhower administration in a
way, in which they, we felt as if we couldn’t defend
conventionally in Europe so we would have massive
retaliation. They have clearly come up with a military
doctrine now that points toward more reliance on their
nuclear forces than was previously the case. They do
have a new ICBM in production. They are working, to
some extent, on the rest of their strategic systems,
but I think with far less effect. But the new ICBM is
real, and they’ve put a good deal of effort into it.
There are some other things that are particularly
strange. One of the strangest is Yamantau Mountain,
and their commitment to deep underground facilities,
which continues to be a presumably a huge drain on what
has to be very limited resources. I think that the

only treaty that’s rather clear cut that they’re
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violating right now is mine. Is the CFE treaty. And
that’s because of their sending so many forces into
Chechnya. That is a matter of, I think, substantial
concern and ought to be a reasonable hook on which the
United States Government could hang its concern about
the brutality with which the Russians are behaving in
Chechnya. There are a number of other issues here--the
1972 ABM Treaty and the like, but I think with respect
to actual treaty violations the only one that jumps out
to me right now is CFE as a result of the forces in

Chechnya.

(Arnie Kantor) 1I’'d just add that what is some ways
striking is that these various arms control treaties
are still treated seriously by the Russians. That is,
when they step up to lines, when they go across lines,
they don’t pretend as though nothing happened. So
these treaties which, I think without exception, are
creatures of the Cold War, still structure, defined
behavior. And, indeed, it’s not without irony that, in
the back and forth between the US and the Russian sides
now about missile defenses, they essentially are saying
that if we play fast and loose, or indeed cross the

line on the ABM treaty, they will have no choice but to
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JW:

cross the line on this or that START Treaty. So these

Cold War relics aren’'t relics after all.

I'm Jerrold Schecter, I’'ve been writing about
intelligence in the cold war. I’'d like to ask all the
members of the panel to think about this question,
which is, Mr. Kanter started out by saying that
everybody might have their own discount rate on
intelligence. Mr. Hadley noted that intelligence was
good, but you couldn’t really know anything on
biological warfare unless you really had a defector.
The question is, have we really moved from a human
intelligence gathering to the technical intelligence
gathering as our primary credible source for making
judgments about the other side’s intentions or
capabilities? In other words, has the role of human
intelligence changed as a result of our technical
information gathering capabilities like satellites and

listening posts?

Let me take a try at that. I think that set of ideas
has been around for some time. It kind of first

prominently entered the public debate with Stan

57




Turner’s tenure as DCI in the late ‘70’s. I think the
far better, and more current view of this is that a
combined-arms approach, in a way, between human
intelligence and technical intelligence is the wave of
the future. Spies tipping off satellites and
satellites tipping off spies. Cooperative efforts
between CIA and NSA with respect to signals
intelligence, and so on. It is also, I think, clearly
the case with respect to some of the post Cold War
threats, such as terrorism, that almost the only way, I
wouldn’'t say exclusively, but almost the only way you
are going to get much of substance about them is
through penetrating the terrorist groups with human
intelligence. It is also, human intelligence was
extremely important in many aspects of the Cold War in
this combined-arms sense. To give you one example.
One of the reasons we did a very good job of watching
the development of Soviet weapons systems was not only
because we were watching their test ranges with
technical collection systems and we were watching their
facilities that would be producing prototypes and the
like, but because, through the efforts of a very
courageous Russian spy for the United States, we had
stolen many aspects of their plans for the way and the

schedule on which they conducted research and
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development. So we could sit there in the Pentagon,
and did for some years, saying things like, “Well, we
don’'t really need to move forward into full-scale
engineering development with the jammer this year,
because they are only at stage two rather than stage
three of the program, and we can save the money and
delay that because we have a threat but we don’t have a
validated threat. We will take a look this summer and
see if they move into another stage and then we’ll
move.” We couldn’t do that all the time, but we did it
a fair amount. You could really only do it, I think,
even back then, because human intelligence and
technical intelligence were working together and
increasingly, I think, against some of the types of
threats we are going to have to deal with in the
future. That is also going to be the case. I don’t

see them as alternatives. I see them as complementary.

SH: One of the things I do is I éerve on a National
Security Advisory Panel with Dave Jeremiah, Shares, and
some others for the DCI. I think the model you suggest
is out of date. It may have been, and again I'm not of
the Intelligence Community, that the late 1980’s and
early 1990’s we had a heavy reliance on satellites and

other kinds of devices, because they made sense given
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what we were looking at in terms of the Soviet Union
and the emphasis on strategic capabilities and
conventional capabilities. I think the pendulum is
‘moving back, and people see that, with the new kinds of
threats, we need to have better human intelligence. T
think we need to do more on scientific and technical
intelligence, and I think there is an appreciation for
that, but there are problems getting, strengthening the
capabilities in both of those areas that need to be

addressed. And I think DCI Tenet is trying to do that.

AK: Yes, I would just add as part of this combined-
arms approach that Jim referred to, you should view
arms control agreements. Let Doug speak to this in
detail if he chooses to, but I think you should view
arms control agreements as, in part, functioning to
leverage our intelligence capabilities by channeling
behavior, by drawing lines that have to be crossed, by
putting burdens on the other side to cheatvin ways
which may actually be easier to detect. So one of the
functions of arms control is to contribute to our

intelligence collection broadly defined.

DMc: When I was in my earlier profession as a second

lieutenant, we called it “canalizing the attack.” You
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know what I mean? So it was the Arms Control Treaty
set down some rules, and the best example I’'ve always
used is, remember we didn’'t catch Al Capone as he was
robbing a bank, we caught him on his tax issue. The
Arms Control Treaty sets up a set of rules. We didn’'t
catch the North Korean nuclear program outside the arms
control treaty, we caught it inside the non
proliferation treaty. So the answer to the other
question is, is very, very simple. It depends on the
target. Some things you want to see so you fly up and
look at it. Sometimes if you can’t fly over and look
at them you’ve got to get inside of them. Most of them

benefit from all three, but it just depends.

My name is Fritz Ermarth, I'm a retired CIA officer,
now in private practice, so to speak. I want to make
an observation that I would have thought, given the
title of the panel would have been made by somebody on
the panel, and second, because of the presence of Nina
Stewart, who asked a question a turn or two ago. And
that is, arguably the most important contribution of
American intelligence over the last forty years, forty
five years, has been to make the arms race, and more

generally the military-strategic competition with the
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Soviet Union transparent. Especially after the early
1960’'s, to the point where any graduate student could
speak intelligently about the military capabilities of
both sides. And the world came to take that for
granted. Now one of the consequences of that was it
permitted us to conduct arms control negotiations with
confidence. But another, arguably more important, was
that it permitted us to essentially solve the Pearl
Harbor problem. The strategic warning of war, or even
short-term operational and tactical warning of war. We
could say with confidence, particularly after the
1960’s and into the 1970’'s, when we learned not only
what they had, but how they operated those forces, how
they mobilized. What’s the difference between just
rattling their pots and pans and actually doing

something threatening. [end of tape]

[Continuing]..INW problem. That permitted us to say, on
any given day, you know, “No, Mr. President, the
Russians are not going to attack tomorrow, or next
week, or next month.” That was a very valuable
position to be in, actually, because, imagine the
contrary. Imagine we had to get through the ‘'60s, and
the '70s, and the '80s with the opacity that we

suffered in the ‘'50s, let’s say. We probably would
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FE:

have spiraled by accident, miscalculation, interacting
paranoia into a conflict. At least we’d have had a
much higher risk of it. Now we actually put that
capability to kind of a pretty severe test. And that’s
why I menﬁioned Nina Stewart. In the early eighties,
during the so-called war scare period, ‘83-'84, evil
empire, SDI, KAL shootdown, INF talks broke off, things
were pretty tense. Right in the middle of that, we
conducted a nuclear release exercise called ABLE
ARCHER. All of this in the public domain, by the way,
including a lot of the intelligence product. Things
were pretty tense. And the Soviets were doing some odd
things, you know, canéeling trucks to the harvest, you
recall, a pattern of things like that. I had just come
back as NIO for the USSR, against the USSR, at the time

[laughter]

We know that, Fritz. We know that. Your reputation

precedes you.

Right. One of the things I was asked to do was an
Estimate about this. I was on the alarmist side going
in, but, very quickly, I discovered how much we had
learned. You know, guys like Doug, and old Ben

Rutherford, the late Ben Rutherford, particularly in
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the theater forces area. How to tell the difference
between what was real and what was phony, what was
partial, and what was general. We really had them
wired on the INW problem. And we could say with a high
degree of confidence that, “They’re mad as hell, Mr.
President, at you, and your policies, and your
rhetoric, but they’'re not cranking up to go to war, or
acting out of genuine fear that you'’re going to attack
them.” Again, I mention Nina Stewart because she was a
staffer on the PFIAB, and did a very comprehensive
post-mortem, or review, of the Estimate that we did
that came to this reassuring conclusion, and judged
that we were too reassuring. We were..we neglected some
generally alarming features at the scene, overestimated

our confidence in our INW capability.

So I pose this as a question to you guys. It’s not the
arms control agenda, but the warning of war agenda.

Did you think about it? Did you share the confidence
we had? Is that confidence..was that confidence
properly placed? But, in general, let me repeat the
first point. This was the most important achievement
of American intelligence in the Cold War, to contribute
so massively, and so successfully, and so consistently,

to simply surviving it.
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SH:

Steve, why don’t you take the lead on that.

Well, I’1ll just...for the time I was in from 1989 to
1993, things were in decline and collapse, and I don’t
think people were worried about the kinds of
traditional war scenarios we had been in the past. But
where we did have some concern was, at the time of the
attempted coup against Gorbachev, and there was a
question about who had the nuclear command and control
during that period. And what form did it take? What
was the box, or whatever it was, that would be in the
possession of the head of the republic, of the country,
with which they would make a decision on nuclear
release? And exactly how did it work? What was the
wiring diagram? And, I think, in a very short period
of time, a number of people tried to get very smart,
and one of the things that was useful is that there had
been people in the Intelligence Community who had been
worrying that problem for a long time when it wasn’t on
the front page of the President’s Daily Brief. So you
had some resources to call upon. And one of the things
that’s important is to have that kind of depth in the
Intelligence Community. My own assessment at that time

was, we were good, but not great. There was a lot that
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we did not know. And we got through it, in that period
of time, and we probably knew enough to have some
reassurance, but, if that coup had gone forward in
different scenarios, I think very quickly we would have

felt that our understanding on that was inadequate.

I want to add just one point to that. This is not
anything I had anything to do with, it was before I
went out to Langley. But, in spite of the
improvements, and Fritz I think is absolutely right,
this is a huge achievement in the Intelligence
Community, judgment still enters the picture, and I
would say character enters the picture, because, in a
circumstance such as, say, August of 1990 in the Mid
East, there are lots of people in the government who
kind of have a vested interest in not wanting to
believe that Saddam is really going to move into
Kuwait. And one of the attributes that you need to
look for in intelligence officers is one that a
gentleman who is here, Charlie Allen, demonstrated at
that time, which is character, which is sticking to
your guns and calling it straight, even when lots and
lots of people are saying, “You know, it’s very
inconvenient to say that. You can’t really believe

he’s going to do that, can you?” So, willing to be the
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HG:

skunk at the garden party is still important, however

good the technology gets.

Just two quick..I thought Fritz or Steve was going to
say this. So, suppose that, in June of 1991, you had
been told that we had good solid evidence that a coup
attempt is about to go down. Would you have then
concluded the Soviet Union was going to break up and go
away? Or would you have concluded there was a chance
the old Soviet Union might come back because of the
coup? The situation Fritz described goes along with my
window of wvulnerability time. If I was able to prove
the GNP was actually a percentage point lower than
we’re seeing, would you have said, “Oh, I guess they’re
going to cut their military forces unilaterally?” Did
any of the people who were giving us the different GNP
rate come forward and write a paper which says they’re
going to unilaterally cut their nuclear..their forces?
So, I'm just saying, I want to reinforce what he said.
The issue was the threat, and all these other points
were on is how we take the threat down. That was the
challenge, and I viewed that as a challenge of the arms

control process at the end of the decade.

Both long-term and immediate.
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My name is Jonathan Lewis. I co-authored Richard

Bissell’s memoirs, Reflections of a Cold Warrior.

And, for the past several years, I’ve chaired an
intelligence study group at Business Executives for
National Security. One of our concerns is that the
great threat to our country, as I know many of you
believe, is the proliferation and deployment of weapons
of mass destruction against us. Given the lessons that
you’ve learned in your experiences during the Cold War,
how would you say the Intelligence Community should be
staffed and structured-best staffed and structured—to
deal with this threat? And, also given the importance
of timeliness of intelligence, how should the
relationship between intelligence producers and
consumers be best managed to deal with this diffuse,

and often surprising, threat? Thank you.

Who would like to take the lead on this?

I'11l say one word about it. TIt’s not just the

proliferation, it’s who it proliferates to, and what
they do with the proliferated wherewithal to produce
weapons of mass destruction. I think the key issue,

again, is not mirror-imaging, not thinking they’re
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going to behave the way we do [tape malfunction]
straight. I would say here something that I’ve said
publicly on a number of occasions, so there’s no reason
not to repeat it, that in late 1995, the Intelligence
Community did a very poor job with an intelligence
Estimate with respect to ballistic missile threats to
the United States. It answered, quite possibly
accurately, the question that it asked itself, but the
question it had asked itself was rather strange. It
was, essentially, if other countries try to develop
ICBMs with the same care, and test programs, and safety
requirements that the United States exhibits, and they
do so indigenously without foreign assistance, how long
will it take such places, say, North Korea, and Iraq,
and Iran, to be able to hit the lower 48 states? Well,
the answer they came to us with was about 15 vyears,
and that may have been an accurate answer to that
question, but it was really a stupid question. We’'ve
had now, you know, four years of reaction against that.
A number of people criticized the Estimate. Congress
insisted on the Rumsfeld Commission being started. The
Rumsfeld Commission reported. The Intelligence
Community’s taking a second look. The new Estimates
are really very good. I think quite well done, and the

Community has gone through a, I think, a change, in the
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way it looks at some of those issues. But, part of
this has to do with, I think, showing the kind of
leadership that George Tenet has shown in the last
couple of years working this question, rather than the
kind of leadership that was being shown in late 1995.

And I’'11 just leave it at that.

This could be the subject of a whole separate
conference under the heading, “How do you do
intelligence in the 21°° century?” Because the map is
very different. Societies have opened up, information
is widely available, there is the Internet. The kinds
of data that we used in the Cold War period, the US
Government had an exclusive on. Now the kinds of data
we need to do intelligence, a lot of it is in the open
forum. So, you’ve got to do a lot of things. One,
you’ve got to find how to utilize, and organize, the
intelligence that is publicly available in a way that
brings it to bear on the policy process. I also think
that you’ve got to get away from, and I think the
Intelligence Community is looking for traditional
acquisition programs, because these capabilities that
other countries and terrorist groups will have will
come up quickly, and you need to start focusing on not

what is just observed, but what is feasible. And if
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PC:

AXK:

you look at the latest review on ballistic missile
threat, one of the nice things about it is it starts by
talking about what is feasible in certain time periods,
and then make judgments about probability. I think we
have to take these different kinds of approaches,

because this situation we face is very different.

One last question.

I'm Peter Clement. I'm not a retired officer at CIA.
I'm actually a current one. Since we got to the
question of ballistic missile defense, I really am
tempted, since this is an issue that we’re wrestling
with right now very much in my office, the broader
question about national missile defense here in the
United States, and its broader implications for arms
control writ large...I guess my broader question is, are
we on the verge of a paradigm shift where we’re going
to have to start thinking potentially about a world

without arms control?

No, there’s no reason to believe that we are looking at
a world without arms control. We almost certainly are
looking at a world with different kinds of arms

control, and we ought to think about what kind of arms
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control we need and want, rather than just cookie-

cutter, the way we did business in the past.

SH: Yeah, I think it’s going to be different. I would say
in some instances, the traditional arms control process
may be, at this point in time, a barrier to arms
reductions, rather than facilitating arms reduction. I
think that, other people may disagree, but the
loggerheads were out on at START II and START III is in
some sense keeping US forces artificially high, and, in
some sense, I think, perhaps on the Russian side, as
well. You know, in 1991 when we got rid of a lot of
the tactical theater nuclear weapons from the US
industry--sorry, inventory--we did it not by a formal
negotiation with the Russians, but simply a series of
unilateral statements, first by President Bush in
September of 1991, and then by General Secretary
Gorbachev a month later. TI think we need to think
about those kinds of devices, because I think the era
of traditional big delegations of arms control may be

over.

DMc: I’ll try to blend these two things. A couple of years

ago, I was asked to do a study of something called arms

control intelligence. And I found out that was a non-
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sequitor. I think it’s a mistake to treat arms control
as something separate from proliferation and, by the
way, I can’t understand why we talk about
nonproliferation when it’s proliferation we’re really
concerned about, and military defense. We have a
security problem. We have milifary threats. There
are..you have all kinds of policies and devices to
prevent certain weapons from being owned; to regulate,
and create transparency where they are; and, if all
else fails, to take them out. And the intelligence
that’s needed is less effective if it treats these
things as separate pockets, I think. And I think that,
in the future, policy is going to make it even more

obvious that they’re not really separable.

I think one of the most important and positive uses of
arms control is precisely the one Doug stated, which |
was to make plausible a stand-down in the Cold War.
When we were dealing with a power with the combination
of ideology that was dying, and weakness, and pride,
that the Soviet Union had. And I think many of the
things we’ve been talking about served a useful
function in that circumstance. I think with respect to
the 1972 ABM treaty, which is usually at the heart of

these discussions, we are in a very different situation
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now. I helped negotiate, at the beginning, the ABM
treaty, and was General Counsel of the Senate Armed
Services Committee in the Senate when it came before
the Senate, And there were a number of people who
supported it, who didn’t like the mutual aspect, of
mutual-assured destruction. They felt that we, and I
felt this way myself, that we needed to pay in the coin
of restrictions on American ballistic missile defenses,
in order to be able to have an assured retaliatory
capability if a war should grow out of something like a
Soviet conventional attack in Europe, and the Soviets
should be feeling as if they were going to have to
escalate. We didn’t want to rely just on the
submarines with a, at the time, with the capabilities
they had in the early ‘'70s, if the Soviets had very

large-scale defenses.

Well, that world is gone with the wind. The Soviets
aren’t sitting with five armies a hundred miles from
the Rhine anymore. A conventional war in Europe in
which the Russians attack is just not going to happen.
At least not Germany, and not the West. And, so, I
think the strategic underpinnings, and we don’'t rely on
fixed land-based ICBMs predominantly for our strategic

forces anymore, so we’'re not really worried about
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vulnerability and being attacked by large numbers of
MIRVs and so forth. So, I think, the underlying
strategic reality that led us to negotiate the ABM
treaty is gone, gone with the wind. And I think a very
good case can be made, not that it needs to be
withdrawn from, but that it is not in effect. It was
made a bi-lateral treaty with a country that no longer
exists. And when you have a bi-lateral treaty of that
sort, the question is a successor-state problem under
international law. If both countries reaffirm it,
Russia reaffirmed it, clearly, but the United States
needs to reaffirm, I believe, in order for the treaty
still to be in effect, because it’s not one of those
very limited types of treaties called dispositive
treaties which are automatically in effect. The
question is, have we reaffirmed? The Executive Branch
has certainly reaffirmed, but I would submit that it is
not in effect unless the Senate approves that
reaffirmation. I think you can maké a very good case
that the ABM treaty is not in effect now, and I think
the substantive strategic reality which required it to
be negotiated and made it rational in the early ‘'70s,
is also gone with the wind. So, I think this is an
important and interesting debate, but I don’t think the

patina of respectability that accurately hangs around
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much of the arms control of the ‘70s, and '80s, and
early ‘'90s, necessarily ought to attach to this
particulaf treaty. I don’t think we need to, want to
let the Russians decide whether we can protect

ourselves from North Korea.

I agree with what my colleagues have said, with a
certain addition. Obviously, you want to use the tools
that are appropriate to the problem, but I want to add,
and you want to engage the parties that are appropriate
to the problem. One of our problems is that we lock
things in, they become rigid, and then they don’t
change with circumstances, and they become an obstacle.
But another is that sometimes we engage in a form of
neokelloggbriandism where what we decide we’re going to
do is establish some kind of norm, but we don’t engage
the parties that we need to shape. One of the
advantages of some of the arms control processes we
used in the past, even as we modify them for the future
is that you need to engage these people because you're
trying to shape their behavior. I think we have to be
very careful about that. The final point is that, on
this question of proliferation of technologies of
concern, clearly globalization and the types of

technologies we have today mean that smaller and
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smaller entities can cause us more and more
destruction. It’s going to be very hard for any
centralized entity to deal with that. BW has been a
classic example. Let me say we have had some areas
where we’ve had some success. We may argue that
they’re fortuitous, but, by and large, they were the
result of some knowledgeable person in a system
noticing something that wasn’t quite right, and
bringing it to somebody’s attention. That’s not a very
reliable tool over a large set of events. But, in
fact, it may be the best tool we’ve got, as we’ve got
to integrate more with what’s going on out in the real

world.

Well, we’ve come to the end of our time, and so, I
don’t plan to summarize. We still have a lot more to
talk about. I would like, if I may, to just address a
couple of points, to the young people in the audiencé.
There are young officers, and young professionals who
will pursue careers in public service. Before I came
over to be Chancellor, I taught Public Policy and
Leadership and Ethics at the LBJ School over at the
University of Texas. You’ve heard some words like
character, public service, and trust, and personal

relationships in our session this morning. I really
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believe, not only from the standpoint of effectiveness
and enjoyment of a career, those values are very, very
important, particularly in the interagency, or inter-
service arena. If we enter meetings with the idea that
everybody there is an enemy to be defeated, because our
point of view has got to carry, it’s going to be, not
only a very unenjoyable career, but a very uneffective
career, ineffective career. What we really need to do
is struggle together. And this group represents that
kind of environment where we were fortunate enough to
have bosses who allowed us to have open and trusted
relationships, not only with them, but also with each
other. And I hope you’ll have that experience during
your career, and your opportunities will be as

thrilling as ours have been. Thank you very much.
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